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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

JOHN DOE 1 & JOHN DOE 2
Plaintiffs,

V. Civil Action No. 17-2694ABJ)
FEDERAL ELECTION COMMISSION

Defendant.

N N N N N N

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Plaintiffs John Doe 1 and John Doearustee anthe trustchallenge the decisiaof the
Federal Election Commission (“FEC”) to discldbleiridertitieswhen it publicly releases the file
pertaining to an investigation that is now closeBlaintiffs, whose names and identifying
information appear in the filassert that the agencylecision is unlawfubecause releasirigeir
identities wouldviolate the Federal Election Campaign Act and its regulatitims,Freedom of
Informaion Act, and plaintiff's rights under the First Amendment of the U.S. Constitutibry T
have brought this case under the Administrative Procedure Acasknthe Courto enjointhe
agency frondisclosing their identitieas part of its release tiieinvestigative file

For the reasons explained below, the Court will not enjoin defendant’s disclosure of
plaintiffs’ identities pursuant to the agency’s disclosurecyoli

BACKGROUND

The Federal Election Campaign Act (“FECA” or “the Act”) is a statute that iegpos
extensive recordkeeping and disclosure requirements of campaign contributionsfiora“to
remedy corruption of the political processPEC v. Akins, 524 U.S11, 11 (1998).Among its

1

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2017cv02694/192068/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/district-of-columbia/dcdce/1:2017cv02694/192068/47/
https://dockets.justia.com/

requirements, the Act prohibits “mak[ing] a contribution in the name of another person or
knowingly permit[ting] his name to be used to effect such a contribution” or “knowingly
accept[ing] a contribution made by one person in the name of another persch3.628 30122.

The Act established theeBeral Election Commissipandit requires the agency iavestigate
violations of the Act. 52 U.S.C.8830106a)~(b), 30107(a). It alsosets forth requirements for
how theagency’sinvestigationsare handled, including the public disclosure of the results of
investigations and of the materials and information uncovered in th&ss,. eg., 52 USC

88 30109(a)(12)(A)(a)(4)(B)(ii). This case concernghether the iderties of an individuabnd

an entity who were not named as respondents &6 investigation butwere alleged to have
had some role in or connectiontte activities being investigated, may be disclosed by the agency
as part of the release of its intigative materials.

FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 27, 201%he FEC receive@n administrative complairitom Citizens for
Responsibility and Ethics in Washington (“CREWW)egng that American Conservative Union,
Now or Never PACthe PACS treasuredames C. Thomas lll, and amknown respondent
violated the Federal Election CampaigAct when American Conservative Union made a
$1.71million contribution which itreceived fromanunknown respondeftb Now or Never PAC

See Pls.” EmergencyMot. for TRO and Prelim Inj. andMem. of P. & A. in Supp. (Sealed)



[Dkt. # 4] (Redacted[Dkt. # 13](“Pls.’ Mot.”) at 2-3; Decl. of John Doe 1Sealed]Dkt. # 4-1],
(Redactell [Dkt. #13-1] 1 3 Resp to Pls.” Mot, (Sealed) [Dkt. # 8] Redacteyl [Dkt. # 16]
(“Def’s. Opp.”) at 1, see also CREW’s Admin. Compl., 11 1, 1320, https://www.fec.gov/
files/legal/murs/6920/17044434345.pdf.

The agencynitiated an investigationbased on these allegatigridatter Under Review
(“MUR”) 6920, andit identified Governmenintegrity LLC as the'unknown responderit Def.’s
Opp. atl. The FEC’s Office of General Couns¢lOCG”) learned through discovery that
Government Integrity wired $1.8 million to American Conservative Union on the sayninat
American Conservative Union sent $1.7 million to Now or Never RAG that John Doe 2

which had a relationship with Government Intedrityhad transmitted funds to Government

1 On December 18, 2017, the court granted plaintiffs’ motion to seal this case. Qkder |
# 5] (allowing the case to proceed temporarily under seal). After the @ssassigned to the
undersigned judge, the Court ordered the parties to file pubtiactedersions of their previously
sealed pleadings on the docket, and by agreement of the parties, the FEC pubisizaded
version ofthe investigativdile in disputeonits websiteat https://www.fec.gov/data/legal/matter
underreview/6920/. See Min. Order (Dec. 18, 2017); Min. Order (Dec. 19, 2017)his
memorandum opinioaites to the public versions of the filings in this case.

2 See FEC Memorandum Circulation of Discovery Bcuments(Aug. 4, 2017) at 2,
https://www.fecgov/files/legal/murs/6920/17044435462.pdf. (“In response to our request for
information regarding the known principals and agents of [Government Integti§/] Thomas
states [REDACTED] ‘acting as trustee of @ntity named [REDACTED] [REDACTED]
appointed GI LLC’s nowdeceased principal.”).



Integrity immediately before thdt. See Third General Counsel’'s Report (Sept. 15, 2017),at 6
https://www.fec.gov/files/legal/murs/6920/17044435484.pdf.

On August 10, 2017he OGCserved a subpoena for informationgaintiffs John Doe 1
and John Doe 2. Def.’s Opp. at2l Plaintiffs refused to respond to the subpo®uwef.’s Opp. at
1-2, and m Septembel5, 2017, theOGC recommended that the Commission find reason to
believe that plaintiffs violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122 and auth&ned ing ofacivil action to enforce
the subpoena. Pls.” Reply Mem. in Supp. of Pls.” M8ealed) [Dkt. 18]; (Redacted[Dkt. # 25]
(“Pls.” Reply”) at 3 Third General Counsel's Rep@tt12—-13.

On September 2@017,the Commission rejectdie OGCrecommendation by a vote of
3to 2. PIs.” Replyat 3;Def.’s Opp. at 2Certification(Sept. 20, 2017 https://www.fec.gov/files/
legalimursb920/17044434647.pdiThat same dayhe Commission votefl to 0 to authorize the
OGC to pursue conciliation with American Conservative Union and -fyiobable cause”
conciliation with Government Integrity, Now or Never PAC, and Mr. Thomlas. Finally, i
voted 5 to O to “[tJake no action at this time on the remaining recommendations”@Gi@el d.
The FECdid notinform plaintiffs of the OGC's allegationandrecommendationsPIs.” Reply at

3-4.

3 “On August 10, 2017, the Commission served [REDACTED] through its trustee,
[REDACTED] with a Subpoena and Order requesting the production of documents and the
answers tanterrogatories regarding its role in the transaction and the source of the funds used t
make a contribution to Now or Never PAC. [REDACTED] response was due on August 25, 2017.
The day before response was due, [REDACTED] newly retained counsel edcuesixtension

of seventeen days. Because of statute of limitations concerns, OGC was tanghbdnt the
request. Nonetheless, counsel for [REDACTED)] statedREDACTED] would not respond to

the Subpoena and Order until September 11, 2017.” Third General Counsel’'s Report at 5.



Thereafter,the agency entered intconciliation discussions with respondertts the
investigation andiltimatelyreached a conciliation agreement with theee Def.’s Opp. at 2;
Pls.” Reply at 4. On October 24, 2017, the Commission voted unanimously to appheve
conciliation agreementwhich involved Government Integrity, American Conservative Union,
Now or Never PAC, and James C. Thortihs Def.’s Opp. at 2; Certification (Oct. 24, 2017),
https://www.fec.gov/files/legal/murs/6920/17044434742.pdihat agreemat concluded MUR
6920 Id. Government Integrity agreed not to contest@oenmissions finding against iany
further, and the respondents collectively agreed to pay a civil penalty of $350,000. Gpgf.'s
at2.

On November 3, 2017, the FEC notifieREW of the results of its investigaticadvising
that:

the Commission found that there was probable cause to believe American
Conservative Union violated 52 U.S.C. § 30122 . ... The Commission also
found reason to believe that Government Integrity, LLC, violated 52 U.S.C.
§ 30122; that Now or Never PAC and James C. Thottias, his official
capacity as treasurer knowingly and willfully violated 52 U.S.C. 88 30122

and 3@04(b); and that James C. Thomds, knowingly and willfully
violated 52 U.S.C. 88 30122 and 30104 (b).

Letter from Antoinette Fuoto, FEC, to Anne L. Weismann, CREW (Nov. 3, 2017)
https://www.fec.gov/files/legal/murs/6920/17044434744((%EC Closing Letter”) at 1.

The FEC also advised thg@ursuant tats disclosure policy“[d]Jocuments related to the
case [would] be placed on the public record within 30 daysi by DecembeB, 2017. FEC
Closing Letter at 1citing Disclosure of Certain Documents in Enforcement and Other Matters, 81
Fed. Reg. 50,702 (Aug. 2, 201@Disclosure Policy”).

Counsel for faintiffs andcounsel folGovernmentntegrity objected to thg@ublication of
their clients namesand identifying information iconnection with the releasetbie investigative
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file. Pls. Mot. at3. While the agencwasconsidering thge objections,and afterthe 30day
deadline to release the investigation filed passed;REW contactedhe agency to askhenit
would publish the file. Def.’s Opp. at 3.

On Deemberl2, 2017 the FECtold counsel forGovernment Integty that pursuant to
its disclosure policythe agencywould not redactplaintiffs’ nameswhen it releasd the
investigative file Pls.” Mot. at 3 Two days later, ® Deemberl4,the FECadvisedplaintiffs’
counsebf this decision Pls.” Reply a#; Def.’s Opp. at 3. Plaintiffs askeldet agency to it two
business day$o publish the file, andhe agencyagreedto wait until December 18, 2017 at
5:00 p.m.or laterto do so. Pls.” Mot. at 4; Def.’s Opp. at 3.

On thenext day December 15, 2017 )qntiffs filed this lawsuit. Compl, (Sealed)Dkt.

# 1]; Redactedl[Dkt. # 12]; Pls.” Mot. Theyfiled a sealed complaint and a sealed motiorafor
temporary restraining ordeaiskingthe Court to enjoin the agency from releasingjrtidentities

in its investigative file.On December 18, 201defendant filed its opposition to plaintiffs’ motion
Def.’s Opp, and on thatlay, he Court held a sealed hearing in which the FEC agreed to redact
plaintiffs’ names and any other identifying information framinvestigative fileand not publish

the redacted information until further order of the Court in this case. Min. Order1Be2017).

In light of that agreement, the Court denied plaintiffs’ motion for a temporarairesty oder as

moot and consolidated the motion for a preliminary injunctidth the merits of the casdd.,

citing Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 65.

On December 19, 2017, Commissioner Elfeintraub releasedhrough Twittera
redacted versionf a Statement of Reasor®ncerninghis matterand the September 2@te of
2 to 3against authorizing action to enforce the subpoena against plaintiffs. Pls.” Rep(y,

Commissioner Weintraub Statement of Reasdm$ps://www.fec.gov/files/legal/murs/@9/
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17044435456.pdf“Weintraub Statement of Reasons”On December 20, 2017, Commission
Vice Chair Caroline Hunter andCommissioneL,ee Goodman issued their own Statement of
Reasonsbout the vote Statement of Reasons (Dec. 20, 20h#tps://www.fec.gov/files/legal/
murs/6920/17044435563.pdf (“Hunter and Goodman Statement of Reasons”).

On December 22, 2017, defendant filed notice with the Court thedipublished a
redactedversion of thanvestigative file Notice [Dkt. # 20]. On January 3, 2018, plaintiffs filed
their reply in support of their motion. Pls.” ®{g. Finally, onFebruary 12, 2018, CREW filexh
amicus brief in this mattér.Brief of CREW and Anne Weismann as Amici CurjBét. # 45.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Administrative Procedure AqtAPA”) establishes the scope of judicial review of
agency action See Vermont Yankee Nuclear Power Corp. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 435
U.S. 519, 54549(1978). Itrequires courttd “hold unlawful and set aside aggraxtion, findings,
and contusions” thet are “arbitrary, cgoricious, an abuse f aiscretiion, or othemwise not in
acordancewith law,” in excess of statutory authorty, or “without obserwvance of proedure
required by lav.” 5 US.C. 88 706(%A), (C) and (D).

Courts are required to analyze an agésayterpretation of a statute by following the two
step procedure set forth @hevron U.SA. Inc. v. Natural Res. Def. Council, Inc., 467 U.S. 837
(1984). First, the court must determine “wheth@éongress has directly spoken to the precise

guestion at issue.1d. at 842. “If the intent of Congress is clear, that is the end of the matter; for

4 CREW filed a motion to intervene in this action on January 3, 2018, Mot. to Intervene by
CREW and Anne Weismann [Dkt. # 22], which the Court denied on January 31, 2018, authorizing
CREW instead to file an amicus curaie hri8te Order [Dkt. # 44].



the court, as well as the agency, must give effect to the unambiguouslgsedpiatent of
Congress.”ld. at 842—-43. If the court concludes that the statute is either silent or ambiguous, the
second step of the colstreview process is to determine whether the interpretation proffered by
the agency is “based orparmissible construction of tlsatute.” Chevron, 467 U.S. at 843.

Once a reviewing court reaches the second step, it must accord “considerabte tweig
an executive agenty construction of a statutory scheme it has been “entrusted to
administer.” Id. at 844 “[U]nderChevron, courts arébound to uphold an agency interpretation
as long as it is reasonableregardless whether there may be other reasonable or, even more
reasonable, views.Serono Labs,, Inc. v. Shalala, 158 F.3d1313, 1321D.C. Cir. 198). And the
court must defer to aagencys reading of its own regulations unless it is “plainly erroneous or
inconsistent with the regulationrd. at 1320 (internal quotation marks omitted).

ANALYSIS

The Fedeml Election Campaign Act has mumber of provisions that address the
confidentality of investigation materials.The Court has concluded that the issue cannot be
resolved at th€hevron step one stage, since none of the statutory provision cited by the parties
speaks directly to the matter.

l. Disclosurein this caseis neither barred by 52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B)(ids plaintiffs
contend, nor required by section 30109(a)(4)(B)(ii), athe FEC contends.

The Federal Election Commissignadministrative enforcement authority is set forth in
52U.S.C § 30109. dh=ction (a)(4)specifies thenformal methodsand procedurethe agency
may invoketo correct or prevent violations BECA 1d. at§ 30109(a)(4). Subsection (a)(4)(A)
requires the FE@ attempt to correct or prevent a violation through a number of informal methods,

and it authorizes the agency to enter into conciliation agreements with aog perolved.|d. at



§30109(a)(4)(A). “A conciliation agreement, unless violaisch complete bar to any further
action by the Commission.I'd.

The Commission seeks to disclose its investigative file for MUR 6920 pursuant to
subsection (a)(4)(B) which governs disclosures by the agency within the contexthe$e
conciliation attempts and agreementsDef.’s Opp. at 4 Subsection (a)(4)(B)(istatesthe
following with regard to conciliation attempts

No action by the Commission or any person, and no information derived, in
connection with any conciliation attempt by the Commission under

subparagraph (A) may be made public by the Commission without the
written consent of the respondent and the Commission.

52 U.S.C. § 3010@)(4)(B)(i). Subsection (a)(4)(B)(ii) deals wittonciliation agreemest
If a conciliation agreement is agreed upon by the Commission and the
respondent, the Commission shall make public any conailiagreement
signed by both the Commission and the respondénthe Commission
makes a determination that a person has not violated this Act or chapter 95

or chapter 96 of Title 26, the Commission shall make public such
determination.

52 U.S.C. § 3019a)(4)(B)(ii).

The Court agrees with defendant that subsection (a)(4)(B)(i) doearmibie agency from
making the disclosuregslaintiffs seek to enjoimere since the prohibition in thagubsection is
limited to disclosure of any action by the Commission, or information defimesbnnection with
any conciliation attempt by the Commission under subparagraph .(A) 52 U.S.C.
§30109(a)(4)(B)(iXemphasis added)in other words, that provisiomrlates to the confidentiality
of the conciliation proess.

But plaintiffs are correcthat subsection (a)(4)(B)(ii) does nigquire the agency to
disclose the plaintiffs’ identitgither, since the record reflects that the Commission did not make

any “determination” that plaintiffs had not violated the Acsimply did not vote to find reason
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to believe that they hadSee Exhibit A to Def.’s Opp. Dkt. # 25-1]at 41-44. Thus, subsection
(2)(4)(B) does naotnandate theutcome in this case.

I. Disclosure in this cases not barred by subsection(a)(12)(A), as plaintiffs contend.

Subsection (a)(12)(Ayoverns the disclosure of notifications or investigations:
Any notification or investigation made under this section shall not be made
public by the Commission or by any person without the written consent of

the person receiving such notification or the person with respect to whom
such investigation is made.

52 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(12)(A)Plaintiffs point to thissubsectiorto support their argument that
disclosureof their nameds prohibited Pls.” Mot. at8-10. The Commissioninterprets tis
provisionas governinglisclosures opending investigations only, and it argues that any other
interpretation would be inconsistent with the statutory mandate in subs@){xiB)(ii) to make
certain disclosures atdtconclusion of an investigation. Def.’s Opp. at 6-8.

The Court acknowledges that the issue before it is not an easy one to resolve, but it is not
writing on a blank slateTheD.C. Circuit has considered the scope of subse¢ay{i?(A) and
disclosues by the FEGn a case that struck dowhe agency’srior disclosure policy As the
FEC explained in the Federal Register Notice announcing its current policy:

For approximately the first 25 years of is existence, the Commission viewed
the confidentiality requirements as endingh the termination of a case.

The Commission placed on its public record the documents that had been
considered by the Commissioners in their determination of a case, minus

those materials exempt from disclosure under the FECA or uhder
Freedom of Information Act . . . .

DisclosurePolicy, 81 Fed. Regat50702. In 2001, howeveahat policy was challenged in court,
and the district court rejectedthe agency’dongstanding interpretation of the confidentiality

provisionin subsection (a)(12)(A)See AFL-CIO v. FEC, 177 F. Supp. 2d 48, 56 (D.D.C. 2001)
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(holdingbased on its plain language that the protectiorssibsection (a)(12)(Adlo not lapse as
soon as the FEC terminates an investigation).

On appealthe D.C. Circuit affirmed the district court’s decision with respect to the
disclosure of the particular materials at issue in that ¢tagét did not adopt théower court’s
interpretation. Specifically, it rejectedthe district court’s conclusion thatthe plain text of
subsection (a)(12)(A) clearly prohibited disclosarelthat the caseould be resolved at the first
step of theChevron analysis

[W]e think the Commission mayedl be correct that subsection (a)(12)(A)

is silent with regard to the confidentiality of investigatory files in closed
cases and that Congress merely intended to prevent disclosure of the fact
that an investigation is pendingut even if the AFECIO coud convince

us that its alternate construction represents the more natural reading of

subsection (a)(12)(A), the fact that the provision can support two plausible
interpretations renders it ambiguous for purpose&ghefron analysis.

AFL-CIO V. FEC, 333F.3d 168, 174 (D.C. Cir. 2003).Thisruling is binding on this Court.

The Courtof Appeals therproceededo considerstep two of theChevron analysis
whether the Commission’s disclosure policy constituted a permissible caiostroicthe statute
It observed: “[a]t this stage of ouChevron analysis, we would normally accord considerable
deference to the Commission particularly where, as here, Congress took no action to disapprove
the regulation when the agency submitted it for review pursuant to 2 U.S.C. 8§ 438(a&t"175

(citations omitted). At the same tintegweverthe Court recognized that “we do not accord the

5 The Court notes that the concurring opinioAFL-CIO did agree with the interpretation
that plaintiffs advance here, finding it to be compelled by the plain text of siamsgi(12)(A).
See 333 F. 3d at 1884 J. Henderso, concurring (“While the provision doesat state in so
many words thatrfo completed investigation shall be made publithat does not mean it is silent
on the matter; whatever the word “investigation” means, section 437g(a)(12){Aly mavers
‘[a]ny . .. investigatior,ongoing or completed.”jemphasis in original).
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Commission deference when its regulations ‘create serious constituiificaltees.” Id., citing

Chamber of Commercev. FEC, 69 F. 3d 600, 6045 (D.C. Cir. 1995).Faced with a policy that

called for the placement of the agencgfgire investigatory file in theAFL-CIO matter on the

public record, the Court concluded that “the Commission failedikor tits disclosure polity to

avoid unnecessarily infringing upon First Amendment rightd.”

The Court ejectedarguments that the longstanding disclosure policy warrabied on

deference and was essential tolfubversight of the Commissiorid. at 172.
In sum, although we agree that deterring future violations and promoting
Commission accountability may well justify releasing more information
than the minimum disclosures required by section 437g(a), the Commission
must attempt to avoid unnecesyy infringing on First Amendment
interests where it regularly subp@esn materials of a delicate nature
representinghe very heart of the organism which the first amendment was
intended to nurture and prote@ecause 11 C.F.R. 8§ 5.4(a)(4) fails to

undetake this tailoring, it creates theerpus constitutional difficulties
outlined aboveWe therefore conclude that the regulation is impermissible.

Id. at 179 (citations, edits, and quotation marks omitted).

In light of that ruling, the Commission revised its disclosure policy, and in 2016,
publishedthe curent policy. Disclosure Policy, 81 Fed. Reg. 50,702. The FEC undertook to
revisethe policyas instructedby the Court of Appeal® “avoid unnecessarily infringing on First
Amendment interests where it regularly subpoenas materials of a delicats’ nkduat 5Q703.

The mlicy narrowed the scope ahe information that would be made publicin closed
investigationgo “several cagories of documents integral to its decisionmaking process . . . as
well as documents integral to its administrative functiomgfuding administrative complaints,
responses to complaintrtainGeneral Counsel’'s Reports, statements of reasons issued by one

or more Commissionerspnciliation agreementsertainmemoranda and reports from the OGC
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prepared for the Commission in connection with specific pendid@&#and closeout letterdd.
The agency explained:
The categories alocuments that the Commission intends to disclose as a
matter of regular practice either do not implicate the Ceuwancerns or,
because they play a critical role in the resolution of a matter, the balance

tilts decidedly in favor of public disclosureyen if the documents reveal
some confidential information.

The Commission maintains in this cdbatthe disclosure of @intiffs’ identities as part
of therelease otheinvestigative file for MUR6920is appropriate under the revised disclosure
policy because plaintiffs “are referenced in documents addressing whether there rstoeaso
believe they committed violations BECA, whether discovery should be sought from them and
other partiesand whether #re is probable cause to believe othesmmitted violations of
FECA” Def.’s Opp. at 5. Defendant notethat the administrative complainaf@REW did not
originally nameplaintiffs as respondestbecausé did not know the source of the contribution at
issue andit acknowledgeshatthe Commission did natesignatelaintiffs asrespondentafterit
became aware dheir identities in the investigationld. Neverthelessaccording to the FEC,
plaintiffs “featurgd] prominently”in the investigation and the Commissioassertghat here is
“obvious public importance of making the identities of plaintiffs transparenewhey appear in
the Commissiots deliberations |d.

But the application of the policy to plaintiffs has been challenged on First Amendment
grounds, so iraccordane with the approach outlined AFL-CIO, the Court must first resolve
whether theCommission’srevised disclosure policy, and its application to the information
plaintiffs are seeking to shieltere are constitutional before it can conduct @evron step two
analysisunder the APAand afford the agency the deference it is seeking in this case.
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[l. The Disclosure in this Case Does Not Violate the First Amendment
A. Disclosure of plaintiffs’ identitiesis not barred by AFL-CIO.

Plaintiffs rely heavily oPAFL-CIO, but the case is inapposit&he investigatory files at
issue iNAFL-CIO involved anestimatedL0,000 to 20,000gges of materials gathered during the
course of theFEC'’s proceedingsihone of whichit had reviewved before it dismissed the
administratie complaintsunder investigation 333 F.3d atl71-72. The agency’s disclosure
policy atthe timerequired “the release afl information not expressly exempted by FOIAJ.
at 178 (emphasis in original) Pursuant to that policyupon closing theinvestigation the
Commission madaninitial disclosure of 6,000 pages of investigatorgterial 1d. at 172. The
AFL-CIO and Democratic National Committee sued to enjoin disclosure, provitfidgvis
attesting that the agency’s initial and furtmeleases would disclose the names of hundreds of
theirvolunteers, members, and employees, making make it more difficult for the otmarsza
recruit personnah thefuture 1d. at 176. They further attestduhtthe disclosures would make
public “detailed descriptions of training programs, member mobilization cangygiglling data,
andstateby-state strategies,and thatrevealing their activities, strategjesnd tactics to their
opponents wouldrustrak their ablity to pursue theipolitical goals effectively Id. at 176-77.

Faced with these concerns, the D.C. Circuit concluded that applying the broad desclosur
policy the agency followed at the time to the DNC and AHD would raise substantial First
Amendnent concernsthe public disclosure othe associationsconfidential internal materials
would “intrude[ ] onthe ‘privacy of association and belief guataed by the First
Amendment,” anderiously interfez with internal group operations and effectiveness. 333 F.3d
1778, quotingBuckley v. Valeo, 424 U.S. 1, 64 (1976%e also id. at 178 (expressing concern

that compelleddisclosure of such materials combined with the Commissibroad subpoena
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practices would encourage political opponents to file charges against their competitoitstteec
expressive efforts of their competisaand to learn and explditeir political strateigs).
The Court statedthat when analyzinga constitutional challenge to disclosure

requirement, courtsiust
balance the burdens imposed on individuals and associations against the
significance of the government interest in disclosure and consider the
degree to which the government has tailored the disclosure requirement to
serve its interestsWhere a political group demonstrates that the risk of
retaliation and harassment is “likely to affect adversely the ability. of .
[the group] and its members to pursue their collective effort to foster beliefs
which they admittedlyhave the right to advocate,” for instance, the
government may justify the disclosure requirement only by demonstrating
that it directly seres a compelling state interesin contrast, where the
burden on associational rights is “insubstantial,” we hapbeld a
disclosure requirement that provided “the only sure means of achieving” a

government interest that was, though valid, “not .. of the highest
importance.”

333 F.3d at 176, quotinBuckley, 424 U.S. at 6468, Block v. Meese, 793 F.2d 1303, 13146
(D.C. Cir. 1986), antNAAPC v. Alabama, 357 U.S. 449, 462-63 (195&jtations omitted) (edits
in original).

Here, plaintiffs do not make any claim that anyone’s associatioglalsrare being
infringed, and dsclosing the identities of plaintiffs here would not involve the discl®of
anyone’s internal operations or political strategies.

Moreover,the investigativdile in AFL-CIO involvedtens of thousands of pages that the
Commission gathered boever reviewed- and sathe information in those pagetayedno role
in the agency’s decision making procesee AFL-CIO, 333 F.3d at 1472. The unreviewed
files included the names of hundreds of volunteers, members, and empildyat476 none of
whom had anyole in the mattebeinginvestigaed Seeid. at 171 (describing thenderlying
complaintto allegethatthe AFL-CIO andotherunions had unlawfully coordinated campaign
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expenditures with political candidates and padynmittees By contrast, heréhe Commission
seeks to disclose documents that were central to its handling and decision madaudpiimg the
conciliation agreement and closing MUR 6920, including its decision of whether to pursue
litigation against plaintiffs that arose out of and was directly related to thetigeton.

The disclosure defendant seeks to make here is pursuant to its recently revised pol
which the agencycarefully tailored to minimize the burdens on constitutional rights while
providingfor sufficient disclosure tadvaning legitimateconcerns oftleterring future violations
and promoting Commission accountabilitythus, te limited disclosureof plaintiff's names
would notthreaten any of the interests that concerned thatGn AFL-CIO, andthat caseloes
nat governthe outcome here.

B. Disclosure of plaintiffs’ identity does not violate the First Amendmenh

So then the question iglo the reasons advanced for disclosing the records of completed
investigationswhichtheD.C. Circuit statedmay well justify releasinghore information than the
minimum disclostes required by section 437g{apFL-CIO, 333 F.3d at 17%utweigh any
conceerns the Gurt might have about the more limited intrusion on First Amendment rights that is
being alleged here?

The Court notes at the outset that althodghn Doe2 appears to be assertiagrirst
Amendment right to make a political contribution without being identieelPls.’ Replyat 15-

17, it is uncleawhetherJohn Doe s asserting a personal constitutional right in tlisecand
whetherhe has standing to raise the First Amendment isstiee complaintonly mentions the
constitution once paragraph 40 alleges summarily thgt]He Commission’s disclosure of
Plaintiffs’ names is an arbitrary and capricious decision, arabase of discretion because such
action violates the First Amendment to the United States constitutiGorhpl.  4Q see also
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Compl. | 3 (allegng that the release of their identities is contrary to law under FECA and FOIA
for a number of reasons, including thdthias the effect of chilling speech”)
But there are no factual allegations in the complaint concephangfiffs’ exercise of their
right to free speechin his declaration in support of the motion for injunctive rellehn Doe 1
the trustee, stage
10.  The disclosure that John Doe 2 dnalere even marginally involved
in an investigation into alleged violations of campaign finance law will

damage my professional reputation [REDACTED].

11. | fear that being connected to this investigation wdmage my
reputation and John Doe 2’s reputation.

Decl. of John Doe 1 in Supp. of PIsIot. (Redacted) [Dkt. #3-1]19110-11 Theseconcerngjo
to John Doe s FOIA andprivacy concerns, not the constitutional concerns.
John Doe 1 adds:
12. The events subject to the FEC's investigation in MUR 6920
pertained to core First Amendment activity, that is, political fundraiding.
is objectively reasonable to conclude that disclosure of the identities of
parties involved in an FEC investigation elents subject to First

Amendment protections that result in no FEC enforcement action will be
chilled in the exercise of their First Amendment rights

Id. § 12. This convoluted sentence does not actually specify who it is the trustee palsibe “w
chilled” And, since it was the trust, John Doe 2, that allegedly transferred the funds to
Government Integrityo be used for the constitutionally protected purpose of funding campaign
activities, andlohn Doe Ivas acting solely on behalf of the trust, it is clear howJohn Doe B

First Amendment rights play any role in this cése.

6 Indeed, John Doedmphasizes that “the full recondwreveas that the FEC accused John
Doel of a violation in his official capacity as a trustee only.” Pls.” Replylat 2
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In any event, even if one concludes that at least one plaintiff has assertedest inte
preventing the chilling of future speech in the form of donations, the only righs tinaplicated
by the agency’s actions in this case is the right to contribute anonymoushhenagtt to
contribute at all.

Thus, the case is entirely distinguishable froAFL-CIO, and, more importantly,
notwithstanding the plaintiffs’ highly selectivgotations from the case law, the constitutional
issue has already been decided in the agency’s favor.

The First Amendment protects political speech; and disclosure permits
citizens and shareholders to react to the speech of corporate entities in a

prope way. This transparency enables the electorate to make informed
decisions and give proper weight to different speakers and messages.

Citizens United v. FEC, 558 U.S. 310, 371 (2010).

It is true that inBuckley v. Valeo, the Supreme Court stated that thsare of campaign
contributions could chill political activity and impose “not insignificant burdens” ast F
Amendment rights.424 U.S. at 6566, 68. But as the Court recountedCinizens United, it has
repeatedly held that those burdens withstandt sfcrutiny. 558 U.S. at 36671. In Citizens
United, the Court addressed not only the provisions of the Bipartisan Campaign Reform Act
(“BCRA") that prohibited campaign expenditures by corporations and unions, but also the
disclosure provisions contained in the legislatifind in doing so, it reviewed its treatment of the
disclosure issue to date.

Disclaimer and disclosure requirements may burden the ability to speak, but
they “impose no ceiling on campatgelated activitieS The Court has
subjected these requirements to “exacting scrutiny,” which requires a

“substantial relation” between the disclosure requirement and a
“sufficiently important” governmental interest.

18



In Buckley, the Court explained that disclosure could be justified based on
a governmental interest in “provid[ing] the electorate with information”
about the sources of electioglated spending. The McConnell Court
applied this interest in rejecting facial challenges to BCRA 88 201 and 311.
There was evidence in the record that independent groups were running
electionrelated advertisements “while hiding behind dubious and
misleading names.The Court therefore upheld BCRA 8§ 201 and 311 on
the ground that they would help citizens “make informed choices in the
political marketplace.”

558 U.S. at 36667, quotingBuckley, 424 U.S. at 64, gGandMcConnell v. FEC, 540 U.S. 93
196, 201, 23132(2003) (internatitations,quotation marksand brakets omitted)see also AFL-
CIO, 333 F.3dat 176 (observing that the Court iBuckley concluded that the disclosure
requirements “survived strict scrutiny as the least intrusive means oviaghseveral compelling
governmental interests”)Therefore, neither theEC policy on its face nor its application in this
case impinges impermissibly on the plaintiffs’ First Amendment right to exphessselves
through political donations.

In Citizens United, though, the Court reassured litigants thatdpplied challenges would
be available if a group could show a ‘reasonable probability’ that disclosute adntributors’
names will subject them to threats, harassment, or reprisals from eithenrgenédficials or
private parties.” Citizens United, 558 U.S. at 3B, quotingMcConnell, 540 U.S. at198 and
Buckley, 424 U.S.at 74 But plaintiffs do not even allege, much less demonstrate, that there are
any grounds to fear that they would be subjedtaassment or reprisalsthe only harm they
allege is the claimed harm to their reputations arising from the fact that they wege un
investigation

So the disclosure involved in this case would not offend the Constitution, and the only
guestion that remains to be resolved is whett@nsidering the privacy issues asserted by the
plaintiffs, disclosure is reasonable under standard APA principles.
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IV.  Application of the FEC’s Disclosure Policy to Raintiffs in this case is Rasonable
and Consistent with FOIA.

FECATrequires the disclosure of any “conciliation agreement” and any “determiniadion t
a person has not violated this Ac62 U.S.C. § 30109(a)(4)(B)(ii)The implementing regulation
provides:
If the Commission makes a finding of no reason to believe or no probable

cause to believe ootherwise terminates its proceedings, it shall make
public such action and the basis therefor . . . [and]

If a conciliation agreement is finalized, the Commission shall make public
such conciliation agreement forthwith.

11 C.F.R. 8111.2@)(b) (emphasis added) Becausg as explained abovethere areno
constitutionalissues implicated by the Commission’s proposed disclasuites caseChevron
deference applies

The Court holds thathe agency’s interpretatioof the statute to require the public
disclosure set forth in the relgtionis reasonable See AFL-CIO, 333 F.3d at 178ecognizing
thatdeterringFECA violations and promoting its own public accountabifitgevalid goals of the
disclosure regulation and finding the prior regulatiovalid only on the basis that was not
tailored ‘to avoid unnecessarilyourdening the First Amendment rights of tipelitical
organizationsthe agencyinvestigates And the disclosure of plaintiffs’ names in this case is
consistent with subsection (a)(4)(B)(ii), as it has been interpreted by the agency in
11 C.F.R.§111.20(a).

The Court agrees witblaintiffs thatthe Commissiomlid not ‘make a finding of no reason
to believe” in this case Rather, th the Commissiorid with respect telaintiffs wasdecline to
make a finding that themgas reason to believe, even though the OGC asked Bab the facts of

this casdfall well within the provision of the regulatn requiring disclosure in cases where the
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Commission “otherwise terminates its proceedingsl”C.F.R. § 111.2@). The investigation as
a whole was otherwise terminated, including the aspect of the matter that thisdueng a
subpoena to the plaintiffs. Indeed, since under terms of the statute, even the nameswfathos
areinvestigated anéxonerated are publicly revealedb2 U.S.C. 80109(a)(4)(A)f), the Court
finds that it would not be unreasonable to release the plaintiffs names here.

Plaintiffs emphasize thahey wereneithertargets of norrespondents {dhe MUR 6920
investigation so they reject the notion that there were any “proceedings” opened or atoged
them. See Pl.’s Reply at 1, 8. But the language of the regulatiomist so narrow, and the public
has an interest in the agency’s decision to terminate this proceeding involouggn@ent
Integrity withoutenforcing its own subpoenas and following the money back to its soArae
theonly reasorthe Doe 2 trust was natrespondent from the outset was because CRiEWiot
know who the donor was. This is notiation wherea person’siramehappened to come up
awide ranging inquiry Plaintiffs here wermtegrally involved in a narrow, focused invigstiort
plaintiff John Doe 2vas a ink in the single chain involving a single contributjanis related to

Government Integrity, a party to the conciliation agreement, and it wasdipeent of a subpoena
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from the agency Theonly reasorplaintiffs’ identity wasnot revealed inthe investigationwas
because plaintiffsesistedesponding tahe agency’subpoend.

Plaintiffs alsorely on FOIA principleswhen identifying theprivacy interestshe agency
was bound to protect. They point out thaDIA Exemption 7(C) exemptfom disclosure
information compiled for law enforcement purposebjch “could reasonably be expected to
constitute an unwarranted invasion of personal privacy;” and that the purpose of the provision is
to protect the privacy interests of suspects, witnesses, and investiga®idlot. at6—8 citing
5 U.S.C. § 552(b)(7)(ClafeCard Servs., Inc. v. SEC, 926 F.2d 1197, 1205 (D.C. Cir. 1991), and

Bast v. DOJ, 665 F.2d 1251, 1254 (D.C. Cir. 198 But John Doe 2s atrust, see Pls.” Mot. at 1,

7 Plaintiffs make much of the fact thafterthe Chairman of the Commission published a
statement of reasons decrying the resolution of the proceedings befocgrthresSion established
who was behind the $1.7 million contributjsee Weintraub Statement of Reasptwo of the
Commissioners who voted to end the investigation issued a statement of theBeeWIs.” Reply

at 4-5, 20,citing Hunter and Goodman Statement of Reasdins.true that in a footnote toeir
separatestatement, Vice Chaldunterand Commissioner Goodman expressed concerns that the
Chair had “publicly prejudgedplaintiffs’ guilt and “presupposed facts and intent without
investigation.” Hunter and Goodman Statement of Reasons at 3 n.8. But plaintiffs makeloo m
of these comments, atlgeir efforts to highlight the footnote obscure the fact that there is nothing
in the body of the twoCommissioners’ Statement of Reasons that militates against disclosure
under the FEC policy. The Hunter and Goodman-fiage letter makes several pointk) that

the legal theory underlying the OGC'’s “reason to believe” recommendation compelaintiffs

was unclear, and that more factual investigation on the question of intent was needed libe
Commission had circumstantial evidence but notctiegidencg and “time was running out;” 2)

the statute of limitations concerning the original respondents was close iagxgnd expanding

the matter to includelaintiffs could delay the case further, so “we believed the most efficient
prosecutoriapath forward was to finalizéhe case against the 3 Respondents” as efficiently and
expeditiously as possible;” 3) the agency’s decision to conciliate methamed respondents and
avoid “the procedural, legal, and investigative complexities” of addagtiffs was well within

the agency gprosecutorialdiscretion; and 4) the decision was in the public interest since the
conciliation agreement established precedent and secured a large pesegtiHunter and
Goodman Statement of Reasons. None of this suggests that the allegatipamtdfs’
involvement or the fact that the agency declined to enforce its own subpoena weregnat iat

the proceeding or its termination.
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andunder wellestablished FOIA principlegn entityhasno right to “personal privacytinder
FOIA Exemption 7(C) See FCC v. AT&T Inc., 562 U.S. 397,@9-10 (2011)rgjectingargument
that “personalprivacy” in Exemption7(C) reachescorporations: “protectionin FOIA against
disclosure ofaw enforcemeninformationon the ground that it would constitute an unwarranted
invasion of persongirivacydoes not extend to corporations’And the actions of John Doe 1, as
thetrusteefor John Doe 2weresolelyon behalf of the trust, not himself, so his asserted privacy
interests are minimal

Accordingly, the Court defers to the FEC’s reasonable interpretatidheostatutory
disclosure requirements and holds that the egptin of that policy to plaintiffs in this case is
valid. The agency’s salutary interest in exposing its decision making to publimgautweighs
plaintiffs’ insubstantiaprivacy concerns.

CONCLUSION

For the reasonset forth above,the Court wil not enjoin defendant’s disclosure of
plaintiffs’ identitiesas part of the regulaelease of the investigative file for MUR 69@0der the

FEC's revisedlisclosure policy. A separate order will issue.

Py B
v,

AMY BERMAN JACKSON
United States District Judge

DATE: March23, 2018
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